
United Nations

GENERAL
ASSEMBLY
FORTY-SECOND SESSION

O/frc&l  Rc)coFds *

SI.(ZH  CONNITTRE
31rt  meoting

h e l d  o n
Monday, 26 Oatobar  1987

at 3  p .m.
New York

__. ..- - .-...  __- ___..  -- -- __..-  -.---- - - - -

SUMMARY RECORD OF THE 31et  MRETING

Chairmanr  Mr. AZZAROUK  (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya)

CONTENTS

AGENDA ITEM  126~  MEASURES TO  PREVENT INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM WICB  RNMNGBR8  OR
TAKES ;NNOCENT  HUMAN LIVES  OR JECRARDIZES FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS AND STUDY OF THE

UNDERLYING CAUSES OF THOSE FOJWS  OF TERRORISM AND ACTS OF VIOLRNCE  WICH  LIE IN
MISERY, FRUSTRATION, GRIEVANCE AND DESPAIR AND WHICH CAUSE  8WE  PBCIPLR  TG  SACRIFICE
HUMAN LIVES, INCLUDING THEIR WIN, 'IN AN ATTEMPT TO EFFECT RADICAL CHANGRS
(continued)- -

(a) REPORT OF THE SECRETARY-GENERAL (continued)

(b) CONVENING, UHDRR  TFE  AUSPICES OF THE UNITRD  NATIONE, OF AN INTBDNATIWAL
CONFERENCE TO DEFINE TERRORISM AND TO DIFFEHRNTIATE  IT Fm THR  STRUGGLR
OF PEOPLES FOR NATIONAL LIBERATION (oontinued)

87-56478 07225 (E)

4

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH



A/C.6/42/BR.31
Erjglirh
L’agm 2

The meeting was  called to order at 3.15 p.m.

AGEWM  ITEM 1268  MEASURES TO PREVENT INTERNATIONAL TERRORISM WHICH ENDANGERB  OR
TA.=8  INNOCENT HUMAN  LIVES  OR JEOPARDIZES  FUNDAMENTAL FREEDOMS  AND STUDY OF THE

UNDERLYIM;  CAUSEB  m THDSE  FORMB  OF TERRORISM AND ACTS OF VIOLENCE WHICH LIE IN
MISERY, FRUSTRATICN,  GRIEVANCE AND DESPAIR AND WHICH CAUSE StXE  PEOPLE TO SACRIFICE
HUMAN LIVES, INCLUDING THEIR OWN,  IN AN ATTEMPT TO EFFECT RADICAL CHANCES
(continue+)  (A/42/5641  A/C.6/42/L.2  (see also A/C.6/42/L.l,  pp. 2-3))

(a) REPORT Qr  THE SECRETARY-GENERAL (continued) (A/42/519 and Corr.1  and Add.1)

(b) CDNVENING,  UNDER THE AUSPICEB  OF THE UNITED NATIONS, OF AN INTERNATICNAL
CONFERENCB ‘IU  DEFINE TERRORISM AND TO DIFFERENTIATE IT FROM THE STRUGGLE OF
PEOPLES  FOR NATIONAL LIBFJWTION  (cant  inued) (A/42/193 and Add.l-3)

1 . Hr. KHAN (Bangladesh) said that international terrorism war >f  major concern
t0 the international comnunity  because its intensification had caught the world by
eucprire. After yearn  of inconclusive  discussion in the Ad Hoc Committee on
International Torrorirm  and in the Sixth Co,mnittee,  which testified to the
complexity of the problem, it had at laat been realized that urgent action wae
noeded, with duo regard for the caueeo  of the phenomenon. General Assembly
reeolution  40/61  provided the baaie  for that action. Without defining
international terrorirm, which left a serious gap in the legal framework of rights
and obligationa,  it reoognited  the need to examine ite underlying cAusea,  and urged
all State8  and the relevant United Nations organs to contribute to the progressive
elimination of those caueea.

2. The ra8olution  aimed to protect human life, fundamental freedoms, and human
dignity. Thoai objectiver  had been clarified by conventiona that catalogued
criminal offence8 in respect  of which participating States were to take legal
action  in accordance with their domestic legislation. Under the renolution,  State-
mre obliged not to jecpardize  friendly relations among States or their security by
committing acts that might cause  terror. They were also obliged to refrain from
Organising,  instigating, aseirting  or participlting  in terrorist acts in other
Btatea,  or acquieeoing  in activities within their territory directed towards the
UOlniaaion  of l uch acte. kny failure in those  respects could give rise to an
international delict.

3. Rtaolution  40/61  implicitly  recognized  that the perpetrators of acts of
inturmtional  terrorirm could be individuala,  groups of people or even Statea. To
come  extent, it wan imaterial  who perpetrated acts resulting in the lees of
innocent liver and damage to friendly relations among States. The greater the loae
of life, the groater  the ter roz, and whoever was responsible must not be allowed to
l auape the  conmequencea. Any attempt  to net  different standards for different
l ntitiee would render  the Sixth Comnlttee’a  work meaningless. The more powerful
the entity, the more eeriour  should be its obligation. Disproportionate actions Or
reaction8 could not help the cause  of combating terrorism. In the same way that
the jurtnene  of a movoment’a cause did not entitle its followers to perpetrate any
abominable act, notiona  of aelf-defence  or revenge could not allow other entities

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
English
Page 3

(Mr. Khan, Bangladesh)

to take action which caused  similar  or worse  cc :quences. If the international
comnunity wag  to express outrage at the acte 01 rdividuals, it could not fail to
express the same  or greater outrage at similar or graver acts perpetrated by other
ant ities.

4. Bangladerh had unequivooally  condemned all actiona  giving rice to the lors of
tnnocent  human  l ives . Together with neighbouring countries, it wan  drawing up a
regional convention to tackle the scourge of terrorirm. It had already acceded to
the Montreal and Hague Conventions againat  air piracy, and wat3 considering
ratifying the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment  of Crimea  againrt
Internationally Protected Peccona, including Diplomatic Agents. His delegation
hoped that, in future, the report of the Secretary-General would include atatiatica
on the incidence of terrorism,  80  that the Committee would have an objective
aaecsement  o f  Lhe situnt ion . More information about the cf forte of Member State6
to eliminate the causeo  of terrorirm would also be welcome.

5. Bangladoeh believed that an international conference was needed to define
terroriem and differentiate it from the struggle of peoples  for national
liberation. The lack of a definition wae a serious legal deficiency, which ahould
be overcane  in order to thwart the efforts being made in some  quarters to portray
heroic acte of resistance by liberation movemnte and  occupied peoples aa  terrorirt
acte  and to u8e  that aa an excuse  to kill ivnocent  people. Ae  the number of
terrorist acte  conrnitted  by individuala waned, terrorist acts  by States in the
guine  of aelf-defence and pro-emptive  rtrikecr  were increasing. The international
community  had to keep a clo8e  eye on that phenomenon , as also on those  ma118  media
that lo&  no opportunity to attribute acta of terrorism in the Middle East to
Islam,  while never incriminating other religions when such acts took place
elaewhere in the world. Bangladeeh believed that a conference to define terrorism,
held under the auspices of the United Natione, deserved every support  from the
internatLona1  community.

6 . Mr. AL-RAWARI (Qatar) aaid  that the point of departure for the battle again&
terrorism  must be the adoption of a clear definition of that phenomenon by the
United Natims. Experience had shown the usefulness of such a step  in the
establishment of a clear distinction between aggression and the legitimite right of
self-defence. His and other Arab delegations had called for the inclusion of a
sub-item relating to an international conference on the subject, in the hope Of
eliminating any aonfuclion  over the real nature of terrorism. The tight of
resistance had already been recognized  implicitly by the General Assembly in its
reference  to the underlying causea  of terrorism which lay in mis,ery,  frustration,
grievance and despair, in the same way that the continuation of represrive and
terrorist acta  by colonial , racist  and alien r&gimee  in denying peoples their
legitimate right to calf-determination  and independence had been condemned in
General Assembly reaolut ion 34/145. Some of the brightent pages in the histories
of Member  States related to acts of resistance against occupying forces. European
resititance  to the Nazi invasion and the resistance of trte  pecplee  of Palestine,
southern Lebanon, Namibia and South Africa could not but be viewed a8 legitimate.
Only those who wished to confuse the issue for the sake of their own interests
could deny the difference between such resistance and terrorism.

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
Enql ish
Page 4

(Mr. Al-Kawar  i, Qatar)

7. The call  for an international  conference was baeed on the sponsors’  bel ief
that every delegation was  entit led to expreee ite  opin:on  on the definit ion of
terrorirm,  wi th  a view to el iminating that  phenomenon and,  at  the same t l,ne,
af f irminq  the legitimacy of national l iberation struggles. pie  delegation expected
the conference to adopt a decision in conformity with the wishes of  the
international comnunity.

8. Mr. WANG  Jiahua (China) eaid that  the increase in international  terrorism in
recent years had taken a great toll  in human l ives, caused grave damage to property
and poiaoned  internat  icnal  relat  ione. The world comnuni ty had made great ef fort8
to curb such activit ies, but  the big differences exist ing between States  on the
subject were hindering further proqree3.

9. Experience had ehown that the co-ordinated efforts  of  the whole international
comnunity were required to curb terrorist  activit ies. Measures taken by States
could be truly effective only if  based on a comnon underrjtanding  and international
ccroperation. General Assembly resolution 40/61  had been a welcome step in that
direct ion. Since its  adoption,  international organixatione had taken further legal
measure8 to combat terrorism,  and  a number of regional conferences had been held to
seek waye of co-ord inating action aga inet  the phenomenon.

10. On the basis  of  the experience acquired by States  over more than a decade,  his
delegation bel ieved that  f ive particular points  should be emphasized  in the f ight
against terrorism. In the first place, all  countries should unreservedly condemn
all forms of terrorist acts as  international  crimes. Secondly,  enphaeis  must be
placed on international  co-operation , particularly in the legal and information
fields,  to ensure that perpetrators of terrorist acts were brought to justice.
Thirdly,  actions against  terrorism should remain strictly within the bounds of
international  law,  because wrongful acts encroaching upon the sovereign rights of
other States  which were connnitted in retal iat ion would only exacerbate v io lence,  do
more harm to the innocent and create fresh  international  tensions. Fourthly,  the
rtruggle  of  peoples  l iv ing under colonial  domination, racist regimes or any form of
foreign domination to asrert  their inalienable right to self-determination must be
treated aI?  entirely legit imate and must not be confused with acte of terrorism.
Final ly,  the internat ional  community  should  study the root causes  of terrorism and
tackle them through increased bilateral,  and multi lateral co-operation aimed at
achieving ite  f inal  el imination.

11. The proposal to def ine terrorism and differentiate it  from the etruggle of
peoples for national l iberation was of great importance because,  in the absence oE
ouch def ini t ion and differentiation, juet cause8  could be gravely jeopardizcd and
ter ror  imm  left unpunished. That had already been borne out by a number of serious
events . China had always  condenmed all forms of terrorism and supported
international  co-operation ~3  combat it. In addit ion i t  had made appropriate
anndmente to its domestic  criminal law in order to puniuh perpetrator6 of
terrorist  a c t s . Although the elimination of international terrorism was a
difficult task, the co-operation of the international community  would ensure
further progress. China intended to make i ts  contribution to that proceerr.

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.U
English
Page 5

12. Mr. WINKLER (Austria) said that the adoption of General Assemb,ly  resolution
40/61  had been a milestone on the way to achieving an efficient co-ordination of
efforts to fight international terrorism. Austria regarded terrorism at!  a heinous
crime for which there could be no justification and which struck  at the very
foundations of any Bociety, irrespective of the nolitical,  economic or ideological
organization  of that society. No State was  imnune  to terror-am. Terrorist acts
must not be tolerated because they gravely violated eocial  morality, infringed upon
human dignity and threatened society.

13. Austria had never contested the legitimacy of certain political aims the
pursuit of which often served aa  an excuse for terrorist acts. It was
understandable that there might be impatience on the part of pecplee being denied
their right to self-determination. The only course of action, however, must be an
intensifi  tion of the efforts of all States to enable all peoplbd and nations to
enjoy freeuom  collectively ar,d  individually.

14. The complexity  of the network of international terrorism warranted a
co-ordinated effort by the international community to counter terrorist
activities. At the national level, the Austrian judiciary and the executive branch
had at their disposal al.1 the appropriate means to combat terrorism and t0
apprehend and bring to justice pcrpetratora of such acts. All praons  who had
committed terrorist acts in Austria had been brouqht  to trial, and in no instance
had a terroriet  sentenced by an Austrian court been released premstLrely.  At the
international level, Austria had contributed to the fight against international
terrorism by concluding a number of bilateral agreements with countries in its own
region, with a view to intensifying co-operation between the law-enforcement
agencies in Austria and in the other countries.

15. The Council of Europe had done immensely valuable work in combating terrorism
at the regional level. Under the auspices of the Council, the European Convention
on the Suppression of Terrorism had been elaborated in 1977; Lt  had been ratified
by Austria. In addition, in November 1986, the  European Conference of Minister8
responsible for combating terrorism had adopted a declaration ano  three resolutions
aimed at strengthening co-operation between melrber  States in their fight against
terrorism.

16. At the global level, Austria strongly supported all efforts by the United
Natjons  and its specialized agencies to combat terrorism. Ii  particular, the
International Civil Aviation Organizatian  (ICAO) had been instrumental in
elaborating a legal framework to cope with the various forms of terrorism directed
against international  civil aviation. His delegation  welcomed rho  adoption of a
draft additional protocol to the Montreal Convention.  for the Suppression of
Unlawful Act? against the Safety of Civil Aviat+n. Moreover, *ithin  the
International Maritime Organization  (IMO)  , Austria, together with Egypt and Italy,
had initiated the drafting of a new international legal instrument relating to the
supprer.sion  of unlawful acts against the safety of mari;inm  navigation, in order to
fill the existing legal gap in that field. He expressed the hope that the draft
would be studied and adopted by a diplomatic conference scheduled for early 1988.

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
Engl i8h
Page  6

(Mr. Winkler, Austria)

17. The exieting  network of Legal inr -umanta  was an important  and practical
contribution to the conmm~r efforts to r,ght  international terrorirm. However, it
wa8  almo inportant  to give a clear and unequivocal political signal that all Statea
were unanimous  in their rejection of force as a means of nettling dieput  or
alleviating grievances. The  General Assembly  had done 60  by adopting i te
rarolution  40/61  and, in view of the continuation of terrorist attacka, muet  do eo
aga in. His delegation  felt that draft resolution A/C.6/42/L.2,  of which it wae  a
rpcnaor  would lay the foundation for yet another mileatone in the work of the Sixth
Conmi  ttee and of t:  ) General Assembly.

18. Afte-  carefully considerlny the Syrian Acab  Republ,ic’s  proposal for  the
convening, under the auapicen  of the United Natione,  of an internetional conference
to define ter roriem  and to differentiate it from the rtruggle of pecpl.lem  for
national liberation (A/42/193),  Austria had cane to the conclusion  that euch  a
conference would be useful  only i,f it was convened on the barie  of a breed
consensue. Otherwise, the conference would  not add to the effectivenee8 of
ma8urea  already adopted by the international comnunity,  and might even detract
from the level of underetanding  achieved 60  far. With reepect  to the propoeal  to
revive the Ad Hoc Committee  on International Terrorism, hita  delegation was
sceptical aa  to whether the situation had changed 60  fundamentally in five years
that better reaulte  could be expected from that Conmlttee. The General Aseembly
should concentrate instead on the adoption , at  ita current seeeion,  of a generally
accepted document eignalling  to all group8  and individual8  engaqed  in  acta  of
terrorism  that the international community an a whole did not tolerate such acts.

19. Mr. CROCKETT (United States of America] aaid  that people  in every corner of
the world had suffered from acts  of ter roriam  committed by ind  ividuale  and groupe
of varioue  political pereuaeions  and every conceivable ethnic background, there
being no monopoly ae to the victim6 or perpetrators of terroriem. The
international connuni  ty had responded with exceptional unity to the threat to ite
existence  poaed  by terrorism, in condemning all acta, methods and practices of
terrorism wherever and by whomever committed. The eigniflcant increase In the
number of States partiea to the existing  Conventiars  relating to interference with
civil aviation, and  the efforts by ICAO to promote strict compliance with those
Conventione, were examplea  of action6  pursuant to the recommendations contained in
General Assembly  reeolut icn 40/61.

20. That firm baee  of unequivocal condemnation and poeitive co-operation aharlld  be
built upon; it should not be eroded by the pureuft  of unnecessary conceptual
problem on which agreement  was not likely. Considerable progress  had been made
without a definition of terrorism. Since thu  qusat  for a definition was  both
unnecessary and highly unlikely to succeed, there  wan little rcaaon  to pursue it.
Moreover, hir delegation totally rejected the implicjt suggestion  that there was
any inconeiotency between combati,rlg  terroriem and a?rpportdnq  self-determination.
The Issue was  not whether non-peaceful meano were ever appropriate, but whether
there were certain means 80  heinous that they were never tolerable. His delegation
did not believe that the prop9ed idea of a conference on terrorism was  a ueeful
way to Sal with the problem, for it would inevitably maximize  international

/ . . .



~/c.6/42/SR.21
English
Page 7

(Mr. Crockett, United states)

disagreement. His delegation also did not believe that the record Of the Ad W o e
Conmit’.se  on InternaCcional  Terrorism was such am to justify reviving it.

21. lugqeations  to the effect that the Internaticnal  Convantion against the Taking
of Hostages exempted liberation movements from the prohibition l gain8t
hostage-taking were simply wrong. Articles 8 and 12 of that Convention underlined
the application of the prohibition, and the fourth preambular paragraph stated that
“any person committing an act of hostage taking shall be either PKOS~CC’*~  cr
extradited”. Furthermore, nothing was added to the meaning of Article 2,
paragraph 4, of the Charter by those who sought to apply the term Vet  roriam”  to
State action. The very title of the item under consideration unmistakably showed
that it was never intended to apply to acts of violence by States. ,Likewiae,  acts
of violence committed  within a given country against the nationals of that country
were not of comparable international concern and were thus not usefully perceived
as being within the proper scope of the item before the Sixth Conudttee. Acts of
violence by individuals or groups which affected nationals of another State,
however, w%e  within that scope.

22. Hi8 delegation shared the view that there was a need to eliminate the
underlying causes  of terrorism. The overwhelming majority of the itma  On the
.General  Aaaembly~s  agenda sought to do just that. It would be both illogical and
contrary to United Nations practice to condition the taking of meaaurea to  Combat
terrorism on the elimination of its causea. The consensus achieved with the
adoption of General Aseembly resolution 40/61  should ba maintained, and effort8
a;rould  continue to strengthen co-operation among States to prevent am!  elil ‘nate
all acts of terrorism. To that end, all States should be called upon to  heCane
parties to the relevant conventions, to prosecute or extradite terrorists whom they
apprehended, and to co-operate within the apecialized agencies in the elaboration
Of measures to combat terrorism.

23. _M_s.  BIGGIE  (New Zealand) said that private violence as a means of influencing
iaauea between States must be condemned as strongly am State violence against
States. World opinion was outraged because of the direct threat to innocent human
lives presented by international terrorism. The consequence of that threat was a
Climate of fear from which no one was inmune.

24. Her Government shared the view that no,cause,  however just, and no goal@
however worthy, could justify terrorists in taking or endangering the lives of
il,nocent  people. As Yew  Zealand’s Deputy Prime Minister had maid, even in wartime
it was illegal and inhumane for combatants deliberately or recklessly to uao  fOrC0
againat  a civilian population. What was regarded am unacceptable conduct in war
W(LS  all the more outrageous if perpetrated against an inrKxent  and unsuspecting
civilian population in time of peace.

25. General Assembly resolution 40/61  was important  for its condemnation of all
acts@  methods and practices of terrorism, wherever and by whomever committed. That
condemnation sent a clear signal to anyone involved in the export of private
v io l ence . The rig&t  to life snd  security of person must have first place in the
scale of prioritica.

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
Bngl inh
Page 8

(Ha. Higgie, New Zeala&)

26. In the fight to eliminate international terrorism, further stepe  could be
taken that did not require the working out of a comprehensive definition. A
definition in the context of a conprehensive  convention to cover all cases where
national8 of one State proceeded to another State and canmitted acts of terrorism
was essential. Her Government had already put forward what it regarded as an
appropriate definition in the Sixth Committee two years previously, when it had
suggested that arry  act of force in peacetime for political ends which jeop>+rdized
innocent lives or property was terrorism. However, there were considerable
differences of view on the legal confines of the concept of terrorism. It was far
from clear whether the proposal contained in documeat  A/42/193 was aimed at
developing a comprehensive convent ion that would ensure that the internat ional
terrorist wan  indeed subject to sanctions irrespective of who his victim or his
action wan. New Zealand had supported the development of such a convention since
1972.

27. Her delegation welcomed the efforts undertsken withir,  ICAO and 1~0,  and noted
with intereat  the proposal put forward in paragraph 9 of draft resolution
A/C.6/42/L.2  that tha Universal Postal Union and the World Tourism Organization
might consider what further measures might usefully be taken within their
respective wnpetences.

28. It was also necessary, however, to strengthen the application cf existing
legal meaarrrer  by increaning the number of parties to  instruments already adopted
to combat terrorism. The reql;est  to the Secretary-General contained in paragraph 5
of the draft resolution was particularly useful  in that regard. New Zealand, which
Was  a party to all five Conventions referred to in the annex to the report of the
Secretary-General (A/42/519 and Corr. 1) , joined in the appeal to all States that
had not yet done so to consider becoming parties to those Conventions. As for
action at the national level, her country was engaged in an extensive review of its
extradition laws and, in particular , was considering ways of harmonizing
New Zealand law with that of other countries in order to give further support to
the “proseoute  or extradite” rule.

29. Noting that regional action had shown itself very effective in the fight
against terrorism, she referred to a recent decision of the South Pacific Forum to
establish a working group to consider terrorism and hijacking and develop ways of
enhancing the capacity of the Forum States to  counter them. The working group was
likely to conaider  a range of practical measures, incladding  the exchange of
intelligence, effaotivc extradition arrangements and the applicability to the
region of the Conventions mentioned earlier. It wa6  perhaps at the regional level
that further legal measures might most effectively be taken. The European
Convent ion on the Suppression of Terrorism, which listed specific caimes  of
violence in respect of which offenders would be extradited and ruled out exceptions
for political reasons, might well serve as a model for global application.
Agreement on a definition ,f terrorism was not, however, an essential pre-condition ’
for such  action.

/ D..



A/C.6/42/SR.  31
English
Page 9

30 . Mr. BADAWI (Egypt) said  that the international community’s categorical
condemnation of all forms of terrorism and acts of violence provided convincing
proof of it5 determination to eliminate that phenomenon. If such effort5 were to
be successful, it was essential that all States should abide by the principlea of
international law and the provision5 of the Charter, refrain from the use  or threat
of force, settle their disputes by peaceful means, guarantee the legitimate rights
of peoples to self-determination, refuse to provide terrorist5 with shelter,
training or financing, and undertake to bring the perpetrators of such criminal
acts to trial.

31. Terrorism was  an international phenomenon which affected all State5 and their
innocent citizens. Action to counter (t therefore required the  formulation  of a
comprehensive and integrated plan within the framework of the United Nations. The
only practical basis  for such a plan lay in the strengthening of co-operation among
all States. Five international Conventions had been adopted between 1963 and 1979
ranging from the Convention on Offence5 and Certain Other Acta  Committed on Board
Aircraft to the International Convention against the Taking cf Hoatagee. M o r e
recently, a draft Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts  against the
Safety of Maritime Navigation had been drawn up by IMO, and ICAO had drafted a
Protm1  supplementary to the Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Act5
against the Safety of Civil Aviation. However, international co-operation was not
confined simply to the formulation and adoption of international conventions. The
fundamental objective was that all State5 should bring their domestic legislation
into line with those conventions and strictly  fulfil all the obligations arieing
theref rclm. It was also extremely important  that they should continu;  their
endeavours to close any loopholes in such legislation.

32. Another aspect nf  international co-operation which demanded particular
attention was the study of the underlying causes  of terrorism and acts of
vi olence. An understanding of those causes was vital in the process of eliminating
terrorism, .and  required intensive co -operation on the  part of all States, with a
view to enabling peqles suffering under colonial , racist and alien regimes  to
achieve self-determination and independence. The United  Natione,  and the Security
Council in particular, had a responsibility to assist euch  people5 in their
struggle and to impose appropriate sanctions against State5 and rdgimee  which
denied them their legitimate rights.

33 . The finely balanced  nature of General Assembly resolution 40/61  had made
possible its adoption without a vote. Further international co-operation on the
gUeStion  of terrorism would not yield results unless  it was baaed  on a consensus
among all participating States. Delegations should build on the consensue already
achieved, with a view to adopting further practical measures by consensus in the
course of the cur rent session. To ensure such consensus, it was important that
decisions should be preceded by a serious and Candid exchange of views among all
States. A consensus must also be achieved on the modalities of convening an
international conference to define terrorism, as well as on the scope of its
mandate.

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
English
Page 10

34. MC. TANASIE (Ro.Mnia)  said that his country was  a party to the Tokyo, Hague
and Montreal  Conventione, as well aa  to the Convention on the Prevention and
Punishment of Crin*js  against Internationally Protected Porscns,  including
piplanat  ic Agents. It was preparing to ratify other lyrl  instruments relating to
various aspects of trrzsr~om. His  delegation had also supported United Natic  is
resolution8  unequivocally condemning all acts, methods  and practices of terrorism.
At the game  time,  it believed that the question of the utieclying  causes of the
emergence and spread of terrorism could not be ignored. Gnly  by finding convincing
and exhaustive answers to that problem would the international colnmunity  be able to
elimin,.te  the scourge of terrorism. A clear dintinctlon  had to be drawn between
armed struggles for national liberation, on the one hand , and acts of terrorism on
the other. Terrorist. acts, irrespective of the pretexts under which they might be
comni tted, were contrary to the causes of nat ions1  liberation, progress and social
justice, and could never constitute a valid form of political struggle. In
condemning terror ist  acts , it was particularly important ‘to recognize  and support
the inalienable right of all p?cples  to self-determination and independence. The
suppression of terrorism should never serve as an excuse for exerting pressure on
sovereign Statca. International condemnatrc,  of acts of State terrorism and of the
threat and use of force against States should be expressed in the etrongeut  terms.

35. Roman’s  was in favour of active co-operation among all States with a view to
eliminating the scourge of terrorism. XII  that connection, it advocated the
resumption of the activities of the Ad Hoc Committee on International Terrorism and
the annual review of the question of internaLiona1  tcrcorism  by the General
Assembly. The proposals in document A/42/416, oZ  which his delegation was a
sponsor, were inspired not only by the recognitiar of the urgent need to strengthen
international co-operation aqai ._ terrorism, but also by the desire to ensure that
the means enplayed  in the struggle against terrorism were strictly in  conformity
with the principles and norms of Lnternaiidnal  law.

36. All the other proposals already submitted, incltiing the Syrian proposal
(A/42/193) and drrft resolution A/C.6/42/L.Z,  should be considered either by the
Ad Hoc Committee  or directly in the Sixth Conrnittee,  with a view  to rcwhing
consensus decisions on the basis of the active participation of all interested
States. Such a result presupposed a consideraule  measure of mutual respect and
understanding. is delegation, for its part,. wab ratiy to co-operate fully in
collective efforts aimed at achieving a generally acceptable solution.

37. Wr. TANOH  (Ghana) stressed the importance of distinguishing between the
legitimate use of force against colonial oppressors in the exercise of the right of
se l f -determinat ion , on the one hand, and the arbitrary violence of anarchists on
the other. It was, of course, not  surprising that the backers of mercenary
criminal bands should deliberately confuse freedom fighters with terrorists and
conveniently forgtit  all the instances in history when nations and peoples had taken
up ar;,ci  against their oppressors as a mean6  of reclaiming their dignity. At the
Aame  t ime, history also showed that the conditions of oppression often produced ’
aflrginal  and sectarian groups which resorted to violent excesses. While such
excesses could not be defended under any circumstances, that did not mean that they
should not be placed in their appropriate context. Indeed, resolution 40/61,  whose

/ . .



A/C.6/42  cP.3l
English
Page 11

(Mt. Tanoh,  Ghana)

adoption by consensus had reflected the recognition of the need  for intwnu~tional
of  forts to prevent internat ianal terrorism, contain epecific  ideaa  on way6  in which
Member States might contribute to the progressive eliminatica  of the Cause8
underlying ‘nternational  tarroriem.

38. State terrorism, too, required the international conmnunity’s close  attention
and condelmation. Events  such as those of 15 April 1986 left no doubt that lawleaa
actiaia by States should  be treated under the general heading of international
ter rorisb,,. Wany  developing countries had had their territories attacked by
mercenaries and other armed bands, their political leaders assassinated  and their
Governments dest?bilized as part of the deliberate execution of the national
policies of certain States. In that context, State terrorism alao.  represented  a
distinct category which ehoulf  he  uingled  out as a new threat t tnternational
relations. It was all the more dangerous when such acts were aaid  to be performed
within the legitimate scope of Article 51 of the Charter. Thorn  who invoked the
PrOVisiurS  of that Article should be required to show that they had been subject to
armed attack and had satisfied the conditions outlined in the Article.  They l hould
produce incontrovertible fucts  capable of convincing an inpartial  world body that
the use of force in self-defence had been the only means available to them.
Chargem  of terrorism levelled at any Member State should be based on equally
atrj ngent etandarde  of evidence. That requirement had  becane  particularly
inportant in a context where it was not unusual for diainformaticn  cawaign8  to k
conducted in order to isolate certain States and create psychological conditiona
favouring unilateral and illegal acts. The international community’s ability to
contain and prevent terrorism -.I118 not advanced by singling out COUntriea  (I8
scapegoats. Such witch-hunting merely deflected international attention from the
true causes of events.

39. Draft resolution A/C.6/42&2,  whilst generally acceptable, had nothing to say
about the crucial concerns of a segment of the international tXWUnitY.  It
contained neither a clear affirmation of the 1agCtimacy  of the atrugglw  of
colonial peoplea  and those under the yoke of occupation, nor a distinct reference
t0 Stat3 terrorism as an emerging reality. To that extent, the draft rerolutiar
remained incomplete. However, its general thrust, and especially ita recognition
of the efforts of certain specialised agencies and its enphaeis  on international
co-operation, deserved support.

40. With regard to the yrcposed resumption of the work of the Ad HW Conrnittee  on
International To * ‘11  sm, he remarked that while the Ad Hoc Committee’s  work in the
past had certainly Men  overshadowed by difficulties, there was  nothing to indicate
thut constructive dialogue  within that forum was impossible, given sufficient will
on the part of Me&r  S:tates. As for the proposed international conference to

, define terrorism and to differentiate it from the struggle of peoplea  for national
liber#tion,  it was not the understanding of his delegataon  that the object of such
u conference woul?  be to draft a convention or another legal.  instrumentt  rather*
the proposal was deeigred to affirm the solidarity and unity of the International
camnunity  and to provide an opportunity for discussing recent developments and new
approaches. His delegation therefore remained open to the possibility of holding

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
English
Page 12

(Mr. Tanoh,  Ghan-r)

such  a conference under United Nationa  auspices. In conclusion,  he exL)reesed  the

hope that future discussion of the item under consideration would focus on the
underlying causes Of  certain forms of terrorism and acts  of violence, an aepect  of
the issue which had 80 far received too little attention.

41 . Mr. HAZMI  (Afghanistan) adid  that the root cause8  of those forms of terrorism
and acte  of violence which not only endangered innocent human lives or jeopardized
fundamental freedoms but also threatened the security and sovereignty of States
could be found in the behaviour of certain States. Those States violated accepted
norms of international law by acquiescing in aubveraive activities within their
territories, organising,  inetigating and assisting  terrorist acta  in other Statea,
and financing and arming oppoeition group6  which eventually infiltrated into the
territ.oriee of other countries. Such acts  constitute,3  the  basic  e lements  o f  a ?
undeclared war and nhould  be condemned aa  acts  of State terror iem  against  the
legitimate Governments and leaders of countries whose  people had, independently and
without foreign interference, determined their own destiny.

42. Hi8  Government, for its part, condemned as a crime international terrorium in
all its forms, wherever and by whomever comni tted. States which claimed to be
enforcing the concept of combating terrorism in order to exert military, political
or economic pressure on other States should be regarded as in violation of the
principle of State sovereignty and should  accept international responsibility for
their  acts. The only effective- and realistic approach to preventing, combating ati
eliminaCin9  international terroriem was  strict  compliance with interna,:ionally
assumed obligations by all States, respect for the principles of the Charter,
recognition  of the right of peoples to self-determination, peaceful settlement of
international dieputes  and regional conflicts, the establishment of an atmosphere
c,,!  confidence between States and the adoption of concrete measures in a spirit of
co-operation.

43. Afghanistan was a party to the Tokyo and Hague Conventions and was considering
becoming  a party to other conventions relevant to international terrorism. It had
repeatedly proclaimed its readiness to work towards bilateral or multilateral
agreements with  any country of goodwill in order to promote regional and
international co-operation and to create a basis for further joint efforts for the

prevention of terrorism.

44. Afghanistan had a long tradition of supporting and assisting naticnal
liberation movementa all over the world. It wa9 accordingly alive to the need to
avoid equating the just struggle of national liberation movements with terrorist
activities and, to that end, to produce a clear-cut definition of international
ter for ism. For that reason, his  delegation supported the Syria:. proposal contained
in  document A/42/193. The task of defining terrorism was  undoubtedly a highly
complex  one, but the United Nations , which in 1974 had succeeded in defining the
politic 11  category of aggreseion, would surely prove equal to it. The dismiseal  of
so-called “definitional problems” as irrelevant was not valid because undefined
categories should not be tolerated in any sphere of the social sciences,  of which
international law was one.

/ . . .



A/C,6/42/SR.  31

Engl  ieh

Page 13

45 . Mr j AL-SABEEH (Kuwait) said that the problem of terrorism was gnawing at  the
fabriFof  internxional  relations and spreading suspicion,  bi t terness  and hostility
among Statea  and peoples. The F!.fth  Islamic Summit Conference had CategOriCallY
condenmed al l  acta  and forms of crtminal  international terrorism a8 a violation of
Islamic teachings,  international  Lonventions  and humsn  values.  It  had also
rejsc3tcd  and condemned the use,  by any country, of terrorism  as an instrument of
foreign policy. Ii\  his  address  to the current session of the General  Aeeembly,  hi s
country’s Deputy Primr Minister and Miniater for Foreign Affairs  had announced the
rejection by Zs!r;mi.c  leadeca  of t!le tendcntious attempta  of anti-Islam forces to
l ink terrorisn!  ts  Islam. He had also declared the  wi l l ingness  of the Islamic
conrnunity  to co-o$Grnte  in eradicating international  terrorism and differentiat ing
it from the sacred right of peoples to w-ge  a legi t imate l iberat ion struggle.

46 . H i s  c o u n t r y ’ s  o w n  b i t t e r  a n d  c o n t i n u i n g  e x p e r i e n c e  o f  terrorism  a n d  i t s
adverae effects  on interJationa1  peace and securi ty strengthened its  determination
to reject that phenomenon in all  i ts  forms. In accordance with a reaolution
adopted at  the Fifth Islamic  Sumnit  Conference, it  supported the convening of an
international  conference as called for in sub-item (b).  There could be no doubt
that the majori ty  of Governments  am  peoples would support the differentiation of
terrorism  from struggles for national liberation. However, his  delegation did not
bel ieve that  act ion to combat terrorism should be delayed unti l  such  time as
agreement was reached on a clear defini+.ion. Examples of legitimate struggle
condoned by religious law, huiman  values and internat ional  instruments could be seen
in the struggle of the Palest in ian people under the leadership of the Pa1eatCr.e
Liberation Organization  and that of the Namibian  people under SWAPG.

47 . Kuwai t ,  which supported the efforts  of  the United Naticna  to combat terrorism
through the work of the Ad Hoc Committee  on International Terrorism, had ratif ied
the Convention on Offences and Certain Other Actn Committed on Hoard Aircraft. the
Convention for the Suppression of Unlawful Seizure of  Aircraft  and the Convention

for the Suppression of Unlawful Acts against the Safety of Civil  Aviation. In
addition,  the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment of  Crimes apainet
Internationally Protected Persons was currently being considered by the competent
authorities.

40. International co-operation againat  terror ism was being ha-red  by the
i n a b i l i t y  31: u n w i l l i n g n e s s  o f  c e r t a i n  G o v e r n m e n t s  t o  p u t  s u c h  cordhtions  i n t o
pract ice, the lack of progress in eliminating the  causes underlying international
terrorism and the provision  by certain States of protection and funds to
terror iats. An objective and comprehensive  approach to the problam  waa required on
the part  of  al l  concerned.

49.
\

Mr. MAPANGG ma KEMISHANGA (Zaire) said that international terrorism was oneof
the greatest  challenges to aocitty  because  i t  was  ‘an  obstacle to international
undervtancliny  and co-operation and took a large number  of innocant  l i ves .

50. General Assembly resolution 40/61,  paragraph 1,  unequivocally condemned, as
crindnal,  al l  acts,  methods and practices of  terrorism wherever and by whomever
committed. Moreoever , over the years the international community had taken act ion

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
Engl i8h
Peg8 14

(Mr.  Mepango ma Kemishenga,  Zaire)

in the form of the adoption of a number ~~1 international legal  incltrumente  to deal
with a wid8 veriety of forma of terrorism. Zaire ~55 a party to ell the relevant
CfXWOntionr  end hed 8upported  the adoption of the relevant General Aseembly
re8olution8  end declerations. In that connection, hie  delegation wished  to appeal
Onc8 again  to the State5 that had not ye C done 50 to coneider  becoming partiea  to
the international conventions  in question.

51. Although there wan general agreement on t4e absolute need to make every eefort
to control end put an end td international terroriem, there was  disagreement on the
epplicetian  of the term "terrori5t*  to recognized national liburetion  movementa.
There were two 8chools  of thought: according to the maximalist  position, all
perpetretor8  Of terrorilt  acts were to be prosecuted  without distinction; according
to the minimali8t  position, a distinction must be made between true terrorists and
the combatent8  of rocogrlized natlonc.1  liberation movements. In the former
cet8gory,  the perp8tratora  were eeen  a8 genuine criminals whose "exploitrl" were
directed zzainrt  innocent people, beyond the limit8 of e just and legitimate
netional liberation 8trqgle. In the latter category, combatants were by no mean8
regarded a8 terrorirte,  rince they were engaged in a struggle that wae recognized
a8 legltimete  by the international community. The minimalirt  aim we8 thus to
re8trict  the scope of application of the term "terrori5t"  to individual8 whorre
conduct we8 contrary to the norms of international law, and to exctlude  those who -
while waging e rtruggle  on their own territory in order to liberete  that
territory - were undisciplined  and attacked civilien  and other target8 that had no
connection with netionel  liberation. The minimaliets  regarded such person5  eti
being :uflty  0e  irregular or unlawful acta, and not 0e  act8 0e  terrorism.

52 . The maxinuli8t  porrition was not sufficiently developed irom the legal
standpoint,  end Zeira  therefore favoureir  the minimalist position. While opposing
internatiarel.terrori8m,  Zaire remained aware that it had supported euch
in8trment8 a8 Generel  Aeeembly  resolution J514 (XV), the Declaration on Prlnciplee
Of International  L8w concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation amung  State8  in
accord8m with the Charter of the United Nations, the Detinition  of Aggres8ion  and
the Men1 le Decleretion. Furthermore, State practice had' in tact upheld the
ninim8list  po8ition,  e8, for example, in the Achille-lscro  effair.  In any event,
it mU8t  be recognized that the best way of definitively eliminating internatiot,al
terrorism  would k to deal with its underlying causes.

53 . Unfortunately, the international community  devoted little attention to
consideration of the iseus of State terrorism, a much more dangerous type Of
terrorism which wa5 very difficult to deal with. Since the State could not be
impri8ond, the most that could be required of it was to make reparations in kind,
in other words, to remove the underlying cause5  of terroriem and, where
appropriate, to pay the victims damages.

54 . Mr. AlMALI  (Ob8ervef, Palestine Liberation Organizatfon) said that the pecplen
which were still being deprived of their right to self-determination experienced
the de8tructive  effect8 of terrorism at first hand, since they continued to be the
victim8 0e  State terroriem. For example, the Palestinian people .ferc the victim5

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/SR.31
English
Page 15

(Mr. Armali,  Observer, PLC)

of a systematic institutionalised policy of terror implemented by the Zionist State
of Israel. One had but to recall, in that connection, the massacres committed by
the Irgun  and Stern Zionist terrorist groups in Arab villages, as a result of which
the civilian population had been forced to live in exile and in refugee camps. Xn
the past 20 years the refugee camps had been a preferred target of Israel's State
terrorism, ard  thousands of Palestinian civilians had lost their lives as a result
of Israeli attacks.

55. The international connaunity  must give  prisrizy  to consideration of the issue
of State terrorism, which was the form of terrorism that represented the greatest
threat to international peace and securfry, A certain amount of progress had been
m&e,  particularly with the adoption of General Assembly resolution 40/61,  and his
deleqation welcomed the decisiars  of the International Civil Aviation
Orqaniaation  (ICAO) and the International Maritime Organization  (IM3) to convene a
diplomatic conference on the issue of terrorism in 1988. However, such efforts
dealt only with the manifastations  of the problem of terrorism and not with the
underlying causes of the phenomenon, and there was still considerable confusion as
to the definition of State terrarilrjm,  which was terrorism par excellence. Unless
the problem of definition and causes was resolved, the international community's
achievements so far were likely to b called into question. Bold action must b&
taken to deal with the problem of State terrorism, despite the lack of consensus on
the matter. Otherwise, certain States, such as Israel and South Africa, would be
free to continue their institionalized  policy of terrorism.

5 6 . Invoking the principle of *self-defenceR, Israel had arrogated to itself the
right to perpetrate deadly  attacks on any Palestinian anywhere in the world. Under
Israeli law, the PM)  was ,a terrorist organizatian”,  and all Palestinians were
therefore to be regarded as potential terrorists. All Israel's recent attacks on
Palestinians were.to  be seen in that light. It was interesting to note that the
racist r&qime  of Pretoria used similar arguments in order to justify its acts of
State terrorism directed against the African National Congress and the South
African and Namibian peoples and had gone so far as to draw a comparison between
such acts of aggression and the Israeli bombing of the PLO in Tunisia and the
United States acts of aggression against the Libyan Arab Jamahiriya. Furthermore,
the United States did not shrink from committing acts of State terrorism against
Nicaragua, for example, in order to assist "freedom fighters".

57. Despite the international community's consistent reaffirmation of the
1egitimacy  of the struggles waged by national  liberation movemnts,  the United
States continued to regard the PLO as a terrorist orqanization,,which,  in its eyes@
justified closing the Palestine Informat  ion Bureau  at Washington and the constant
thr@at  to the PLO Office at the United Nations in New York in flagrant violation Of
the norms of international law and the provisions of the Headquarters Agreement.

58. X was clear that sane States would continue to use terrorism as a pretext for
preventing the irrplementation  of the fundamental rights of peoples and that the
international c-unity would continue to concentrate on the effects of terrorism
rather than on its underlying causes on the pretext that there was a schism within

/ . . .



A/C.6/42/%.31
English
Page  16

(Mr. Armali, Observer, PLO)

the comnuni  ty on the definition of internat  ional  terrorism. However , that approach
amounted to putting the cart before the horse, since persistent failure to deal
with the problem could only exacerbate the “misery, Lrustrat  ion,  gr ievance and

despa i r” referred to in the title of the item under discussion. Steps must
therefore be taken to convene an international conference on the question under the
aegis of the United Nations, and to eatablish a definition of terrorism The
Ad Hoc Comni  ttee on International Ter roriam would be responsible for making
preparations for such a conference on the basis of existing instruments and

instrumante  under preparation, such as those resulting from the two diplomatic
conferences to be convened by ICAO and IMO. Particular account should be taken of
the Charter of the United Nations, the relevant General Assembly resolutions, the
Definititn of Aqgreseion and Additional Protocol I to the Geneva Conventions of
1949, paLticularly  articles 1 and 44. A combatant of a national liberation
movl*mont  who attacked innocent civilians and was captured must be treated as a
prisoner of war and should also be tried for war crimes by an impartial
international tribunal.

59. Ms. WILLSCN  (United States of America), speaking in exercise of the right of
reply, said that the representative of Ghana had been confusing the item under
discussion with the question of the scope and binding nature  of Article 2,
paragraph 4, of the Charter. The rules concerning the use of force by States were
relatively clear. Nothing could ta  added to the meaning of Article 2, paragraph 4,
or Article 39 of the Charter by endeavouring, within the ambit  of the item before
the Comniktee,  to apply the term “terrorism* to State action. The very title of
the item under consideration, with its recitation of causes, left no doubt that the
item  had never been intended to apply to acts by States.

60. With regard to Ghana’s conrments  concerning Article 51, if the inherent right
of self-defence did not include the right to protect a country’s nationals, she
wondered what it did protect. The idea that .a State should be criticised  for
seeking to protect the lives of its nationals who were subject to armed attack did
not warrant further cement.

61. Mr. TANOH  (Ghana), speaking in exercise of the right of reply, said that his
delegation did not agree with the views held by the United Staten delegation and
other delegations on Article 2, paraqraph 4, of the Charter. He hoped that there
would be an opportunity for discussion of sane of the legal points in question.
Where Article 51 of the Charter was concernad, his  statement had been perfectly
clear.

The meeting rose at 6.15 p.m.


